CADTH Health Technology Review

Newborn Screening for Congenital Cytomegalovirus in Canada



Key Messages

What Is the Issue?

 Congenital cytomegalovirus (cCMV) infection is a leading cause of childhood hearing loss. It is estimated that 85% to 90% of newborns infected with cCMV will not show any symptoms at birth. Of those newborns with cCMV infection who are asymptomatic at birth, 10% to 15% will go on to develop long-term symptoms, including vision loss, hearing loss, and developmental delays.

What Did We Do?

 This brief provides a summary about newborn screening for cCMV in Canada, including whether screening is available for cCMV in each province and territory, and if so, whether screening is universal or targeted using publicly available information.

What Did We Find?

- Currently in Canada, 4 provinces (Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario) have or are implementing universal newborn screening for cCMV. Three provinces (British Columbia, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia) have province-wide targeted screening programs that offer cCMV testing to newborns who fail newborn hearing tests or who have suspected cCMV as identified by a clinician. Current clinical guidance and practice remain mixed on whether targeted or universal newborn screening is recommended, with each having a different distribution of benefits and harms.
- cCMV infections can be detected using blood, urine, or saliva tests. Most
 universal newborn screening programs use dried blood spot tests, which
 are likely to produce false-negative results; saliva tests have a lower
 number of false-negative results but can result in a higher number of
 false-positives. Some programs recommend additional testing using a
 different method (either saliva or urine) after an initial positive test as a
 validation.

What Does This Mean?

• As both universal and targeted newborn screening programs have been adopted by several jurisdictions in Canada, there is wide recognition that cCMV infection is a serious health issue and that early detection is important. Moreover, there is an opportunity to generate data and evidence about test performance and program impact over time that could support future decision-making. As evidence and new test and treatment options become available, such data will help to inform the type of newborn screening approach used for cCMV.



Table of Contents

| Abbreviations | 6 |
|--|----|
| Context | 7 |
| What Is cCMV? | 7 |
| Universal Versus Targeted Newborn Screening for Congenital Cytomegalovirus | 8 |
| cCMV Screening for Newborns in Canada | 9 |
| Screening Tests for cCMV | 11 |
| Future Considerations | 11 |
| References | 12 |
| Appendix 1: Public Health Reporting of cCMV in Canada | 13 |
| | |



List of Tables

| Table 1: cCMV Screening in Newborns in Canada ^a | . 9 |
|--|-----|
| Table 2: cCMV as a Reportable Disease in Canada | 12 |



Abbreviations

ACHDNC Advisory Committee on Heritable Diseases in Newborns and Children

cCMV congenital cytomegalovirus

CMV cytomegalovirus NBS newborn screening

PCR polymerase chain reaction

RUSP Recommended Uniform Screening Panel



Context

This brief provides a summary about newborn screening for cCMV in Canada, including whether screening is available for cCMV in each province and territory, and if so, whether screening is universal or targeted.

Newborn screening refers to testing done shortly after birth to check for serious but treatable diseases. It helps to identify certain conditions as early as possible to prevent serious health problems.

We used publicly available information identified through a targeted keyword search for publications and websites from ministries of health, regional health authorities, and newborn screening programs, supplemented with survey data gathered through CADTH's connections to provincial and territorial newborn screening programs. The data were used to inform the context surrounding cCMV infection, including available screening tools and types of newborn screening programs for cCMV that are adopted.

Further information about evidence on the clinical utility, cost-effectiveness, and clinical guidelines for universal versus targeted cCMV screening in newborns can be found in a companion report on this topic, Newborn Screening for Congenital Cytomegalovirus.¹

What Is cCMV?

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) is a common herpes virus, and it is estimated that 60% to 90% of adults have been infected.² With the exception of those adults who have weakened immune systems, most people who are infected have no symptoms.³

CMV can be transferred from person to person through bodily fluids (i.e., saliva, blood, breast milk, vaginal fluids, and semen).⁴ cCMV occurs when a fetus is infected with CMV in utero by blood through the placenta; it is the most common congenital infection, affecting 1 in 200 newborns,³ and it is a reportable public health infection in 6 provinces and territories in Canada (Appendix 1).

Similar to CMV infections, 85% to 90% of newborns infected with cCMV will not show any symptoms at birth.³ Of the estimated 10% of newborns with symptoms at birth, they can present with premature birth, low birth weight, small head size, yellow skin and eyes (jaundice), enlarged and poorly functioning liver, enlarged spleen, purple skin splotches and/or rash, pneumonia, and seizures. Of those newborns with cCMV infection who are asymptomatic at birth, 10% to 15% will go on to develop long-term symptoms, including vision loss, hearing loss, and developmental delays.⁵ Permanent hearing loss, either present at birth or developing thereafter, is a common symptom of cCMV infection, as cCMV is the leading cause of sensorineural hearing loss in infants and children.⁶

Currently there are no approved vaccines or preventive therapies for cCMV; however, <u>phase III clinical trials are underway in Canada</u>. Prevention strategies involve education and health promotion aimed at pregnant people about the risk of contagion and offering hygiene strategies for avoiding the likelihood of transmission.⁴ Therapies for newborns and infants with confirmed cCMV include using antivirals (e.g., valganciclovir and ganciclovir) from 1 month to 6 months of age.⁴



Because the symptoms of cCMV develop over time, many guidelines and clinical practices involve monitoring newborns through childhood for symptoms of cCMV. Guidelines from the Canadian Pediatric Society recommend that newborns who are diagnosed with cCMV be monitored for several years for hearing, vision, and neurologic symptoms.⁴ As an illustrative example, in British Columbia, the <u>care pathway</u> for a newborn with confirmed cCMV is a direct referral for an auditory brainstem response assessment, and depending on the results of the assessment, the newborn will be referred for either ongoing monitoring or early intervention.

Universal Versus Targeted Newborn Screening for Congenital Cytomegalovirus

Newborn screening programs have been implemented to identify newborns infected with cCMV. Such programs can be universal (i.e., aiming to screen all newborns born in their jurisdiction) or targeted (i.e., aiming to screen newborns who are symptomatic or deemed to be at high risk). Universal screening for cCMV in newborns is typically implemented by expanding the conditions screened for by existing newborn screening programs for inborn errors of metabolism. These programs most frequently use dried blood spot samples to identify potentially infected newborns, after which additional protocols are initiated for diagnosis (i.e., confirmatory urine or saliva testing) and early intervention, treatment, and monitoring for cCMV. Targeted screening programs are those that screen for cCMV in newborns who are symptomatic or at high risk. Targeted cCMV screening is frequently implemented as part of universal newborn hearing screening programs, through which all newborns undergo a hearing test by 1 month of age, and those newborns who fail hearing tests are tested for potential cCMV.⁷ Typically, targeted screening programs offer cCMV testing to those newborns with confirmed results from 1 or 2 hearing tests, depending on a program's algorithms. Targeted screening may miss those newborns who do not have hearing loss and are asymptomatic but develop symptoms at a later stage in life.^{4,6}

There are few jurisdictions that have implemented universal screening for cCMV. For example, in the US, Minnesota is the first state that has implemented universal screening of all newborns for cCMV, while Connecticut is planning to implement universal cCMV screening by 2025. Currently, 9 states (Connecticut, Florida, Iowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, New York, Texas, Utah, and Virginia) have state-wide targeted newborn screening programs, with Colorado initiating its targeted screening in March 2024.8

The limited number of states with universal newborn screening is likely due to cCMV not being currently recommended on the US Recommended Uniform Screening Panel (RUSP), a federal list of conditions recommended for screening by state newborn screening programs. In 2020, the Advisory Committee on Heritable Diseases in Newborns and Children (ACHDNC) considered a nomination to add cCMV to the RUSP. Based on the information provided in the nomination at the time, the committee did not proceed with an evidence review to further consider adding cCMV to the panel. In their letter to the nominator, the committee noted that there were questions about the potential benefits and harms of universal newborn screening for cCMV. Given that the majority of asymptomatic newborns who are diagnosed with a cCMV infection will not



develop any further symptoms, there were questions about the potential harms of diagnosis and long-term monitoring for symptoms. Further, the benefits of early diagnosis and treatment as opposed to treating or managing symptoms was unclear. The committee requested data from a US-based pilot study to generate data for evaluating the clinical utility of universal newborn screening for cCMV.

More recently, the Institut national d'excellence en santé et en services sociaux (INESSS) in Quebec recommended not adding universal screening for cCMV infection to the blood testing platform of the Quebec newborn screening program because of the lack of evidence of its effectiveness, the absence of reliable markers to discern the severity of cases, and the risk of overdiagnosis (absence of health gains) for most of the asymptomatic children detected, and because no program that has implemented universal cCMV screening has published results yet. Similar to the ACHDNC conclusion, the INESSS recommendation pointed to limited evidence on the population benefits of universal cCMV screening and the potential harms of diagnosing large numbers of asymptomatic patients. Health system capacity considerations, which are a common criterion used by universal newborn screening programs in deciding whether to add a condition to a list,9 were raised, particularly as Quebec is finalizing the implementation of its universal newborn hearing screening program, which could have benefits for symptomatic newborns. 10

Clinical guidelines are mixed on recommending universal versus targeted newborn screening for cCMV. A companion report, which searched for evidence-based guidelines for cCMV screening in newborns, found 2 publications that did not recommend universal screening and 1 that did recommend it.¹ Universal screening programs appear to be cost-effective when compared to targeted screening programs; for details on evidence regarding cost-effectiveness, refer to the companion report Newborn Screening for Congenital Cytomegalovirus.¹ In general, clinical guidelines do not recommend universal screening for people with CMV who are pregnant.¹¹ Some guidelines recommend targeted screening for people who are pregnant and who are at high risk of CMV infection and symptoms, including immunocompromised people and people with children at home who are younger than 3 years.¹¹¹¹²²

cCMV Screening for Newborns in Canada

Both universal and targeted newborn screening programs for cCMV are currently implemented in Canada. <u>Table 1</u> describes the status of newborn screening for cCMV across Canada, using information from publicly available sources.

Ontario and Saskatchewan screen for cCMV through their universal dried blood spot newborn screening programs. In 2023, Alberta announced that it was adding cCMV to its universal dried blood spot newborn screening program, and the government of Manitoba announced in its 2024 budget that it would be funding universal newborn screening for cCMV.

Ontario's universal newborn screening program is integrated with its universal newborn hearing screening program. Ontario currently uses the results from the dried blood spot test to identify those newborns who have markers for permanent hearing loss including cCMV. Ontario's <u>province-wide protocol</u> provides that newborns who are identified with cCMV through newborn dried blood spot testing are referred directly for an



audiological assessment. If a newborn passes the assessment, depending on their clinical situation, they will be referred to either basic or intensive surveillance.

Three provinces (British Columbia, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia) have province-wide protocols for targeted screening for cCMV in newborns with suspected cCMV, as identified by a physician or who have failed a newborn hearing test. For targeted cCMV screening programs, typically these are conducted through universal newborn hearing programs that aim to screen all newborns, typically by 1 month of age. Not all provinces and territories have an established universal newborn hearing screening program.

Table 1: cCMV Screening in Newborns in Canada^a

| Jurisdiction ^b | Universal newborn screening (dried blood spot) | Targeted newborn screening° |
|---------------------------|--|---|
| ВС | No | CMV saliva PCR testing is offered for any newborn with suspected cCMV infection, including those who fail a newborn hearing screening test. |
| АВ | Yes (announced in 2023, currently being implemented) | None |
| SK | Yes (since 2022) | None |
| МВ | Yes (announced in 2024, to be implemented) | Dried blood spot screening is offered for any newborn with suspected cCMV infection, including those who fail a newborn hearing screening test. |
| ON | Yes (since 2019) | None |
| QC | No (reviewed in March 2024) | None |
| NB | Under consideration | Physicians and audiologists can send dried blood spot samples from infants with suspected cCMV for testing at CHEO in Ontario. |
| PE | Under consideration | Physicians and audiologists can send dried blood spot samples from infants with suspected cCMV for testing at CHEO in Ontario. |
| NS | Under consideration | Physicians and audiologists can send dried blood spot samples from infants with suspected cCMV for testing at CHEO in Ontario. |
| NL | No | None |

AB = Alberta; BC = British Columbia; cCMV = congenital cytomegalovirus; CHEO = Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario; MB = Manitoba; NB = New Brunswick; NBS = newborn screening; NL = Newfoundland and Labrador; NS = Nova Scotia; ON = Ontario; PE = Prince Edward Island; QC = Quebec; SK = Saskatchewan.

alnformation identified from CANScreen and CMV Canada.

^bPEI and NB participate in the IWK Maritime Newborn Screening Program. Yukon, the Northwest Territories, and Nunavut are not included in this table, as they rely on NBS programs in other jurisdictions and do not have their own NBS infrastructure. Newborns in Yukon are screened through BC's program, the Northwest Territories use Alberta's program, and Nunavut uses the programs from AB, MB, and ON, depending on the region.

^cTargeted newborn screening programs are province-wide protocols that provide cCMV testing to all high-risk newborns, typically those who fail hearing tests. Note: Not all jurisdictions have province-wide universal newborn hearing programs.



Screening Tests for cCMV

Screening for cCMV is typically recommended to take place before an infant is 21 days old, because after this point in time, testing cannot differentiate between a congenital and a perinatal or postnatal CMV infection.⁶ Screening tests can use blood, saliva, or urine samples to confirm the presence of CMV or CMV antibodies. Laboratories can culture the virus in samples or use polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing to detect the presence of the virus. Most commonly, saliva PCR tests or urine (either culture or PCR) tests are recommended as standards to diagnosis cCMV.^{4,6,10} Immunoglobulin testing for immunoglobulin M or immunoglobulin G antibodies to cCMV (using a blood sample) is another method of testing; however, these tests are not widely available, used, or recommended for cCMV screening or diagnosis in newborns.^{4,5}

While the reported performance of different methods of testing for cCMV vary,¹³ dried blood spot PCR testing is consistently reported to be less sensitive (i.e., classifying true positives as falsely negative) than either saliva or urine PCR testing.^{5,6,10} The reported performance of dried blood spot tests has led Newborn Screening Ontario to initiate a pilot (in February 2024) to determine whether dried blood spot testing or dried saliva spot testing is the most appropriate method. Saliva PCR testing is reported to have a slightly higher rate of false-positives and false-negatives than urine PCR testing, but saliva is a much easier sample to obtain.⁵ For the purposes of diagnosis, some programs recommend additional testing using a different method (either saliva or urine) after an initial positive test (whether dried blood spot, urine, or saliva).^{4,6}

Future Considerations

cCMV is a condition with active interest. Researchers are studying ways to optimize methods of testing for cCMV, including dried blood spot tests;¹⁴ improve algorithms used in targeted screening programs to capture those with cCMV beyond hearing outcomes;⁷ and understand the long-term consequences of cCMV infections, which are not well characterized. Treatment options and evidence of their effectiveness for preventing the long-term health impacts of cCMV infections are also needed,¹⁰ and potential vaccines for cCMV would lead to further changes to the newborn screening for cCMV landscape.

As both universal and targeted newborn screening programs have been adopted by several jurisdictions in Canada, there is wide recognition that cCMV infection is a serious health issue and that early detection is important. Moreover, there is an opportunity to generate data and evidence about test performance and program impact over time that could support future decision-making. As evidence and new test and treatment options become available, such data will help to inform the type of newborn screening approach for cCMV.



References

- 1. Newborn screening for congenital cytomegalovirus. CADTH Health Technology Review. Ottawa (ON): CADTH; 2024.
- 2. Lawrence SM, Goshia T, Sinha M, Fraley SI, Williams M. Decoding human cytomegalovirus for the development of innovative diagnostics to detect congenital infection. *Pediatr Res.* 2024;95(2):532-542. PubMed
- 3. Newborn Screening Ontario. Disease information congenital cytomegalovirus. 2024; https://www.newbornscreening.on.ca/en/results/screen-positive-results/disease-information/congenital-cytomegalovirus-cmv/. Accessed 2024 Apr 15.
- 4. Barton M, Forrester AM, McDonald J. Update on congenital cytomegalovirus infection: Prenatal prevention, newborn diagnosis, and management. *Paediatr Child Health.* 2020;25(6):395-396. <u>PubMed</u>
- 5. Leber AL. Maternal and congenital human cytomegalovirus infection: laboratory testing for detection and diagnosis. *J Clin Micro Biol.* 2024:e00313-00323. PubMed
- 6. Schleiss MR, Osterholm E, Hernandez-Alvarado N, et al. 968. Universal Newborn Testing for Congenital Cytomegalovirus (cCMV) Infection Comes of Age: Clinical Sensitivity of Screening Tests and Infant Outcomes in a cCMV Screening Study in Minnesota. Paper presented at: Open Forum Infectious Diseases 2023.
- 7. Suarez D, Nielson C, McVicar SB, et al. Analysis of an expanded targeted early cytomegalovirus testing program. *Otolaryngology—Head and Neck Surgery.* 2023;169(3):670-677. PubMed
- 8. National CMV Foundation. Advocacy in action. 2024; https://www.nationalcmv.org/about-us/advocacy.
- 9. Dobrow MJ, Hagens V, Chafe R, Sullivan T, Rabeneck L. Consolidated principles for screening based on a systematic review and consensus process. *CMAJ*. 2018;190(14):E422-e429. PubMed
- 10. Une production de l'Institut national d'excellence en santé et en services sociaux (INESSS). Relevance of adding universal screening for congenital cytomegalovirus (cmv) infection to québec newborn screening program. Montreal (QC): Government of Quebec; 2024: https://www.inesss.qc.ca/fileadmin/doc/INESSS/Rapports/Depistage/INESSS_Depistage_icCMV_Summary.pdf. Accessed 2024 Apr 15.
- 11. Xie M, Tripathi T, Holmes NE, Hui L. Serological screening for cytomegalovirus during pregnancy: A systematic review of clinical practice guidelines and consensus statements. *Prenatal Diagnosis*. 2023;43(7):959-967. PubMed
- 12. Boucoiran I, Yudin M, Poliquin V, Caddy S, Gantt S, Castillo E. Guideline no. 420: cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. *JOGC*. 2021;43(7):893-908. PubMed
- 13. Huang Y, Wang H, Li T, et al. Comparison of detection strategies for screening and confirming congenital cytomegalovirus infection in newborns in a highly seroprevalent population: a mother-child cohort study. *The Lancet Regional Health–Western Pacific*. 2021;12. PubMed
- 14. Kim JH, Robles V, Weimer KED, Gehtland LM, Kucera KS. Improved Dried Blood Spot PCR Assay for Universal Congenital Cytomegalovirus Screening in Newborns. *Microbiol Spect.* 2023;11(2):e04041-04022. <u>PubMed</u>



Appendix 1: Public Health Reporting of cCMV in Canada

Note that this appendix has not been copy-edited.

Six jurisdictions in Canada have a protocol for notifying public health about identified cCMV infections. Table 2 presents whether cCMV is a reportable disease in provinces and territories across Canada.

Table 2: cCMV as a Reportable Disease in Canada

| Province | cCMV a reportable condition |
|---------------------------|-----------------------------|
| <u>Alberta</u> | Yes |
| British Columbia | Yes |
| New Brunswick | Yes |
| Northwest Territories | Yes |
| Nunavut | Yes |
| Yukon | Yes |
| <u>Manitoba</u> | No |
| Newfoundland and Labrador | No |
| Nova Scotia | No |
| <u>Ontario</u> | No |
| Prince Edward Island | No |
| Quebec | No |
| Saskatchewan | No |

cCMV = congenital cytomegalovirus.



ISSN: 2563-6596

Disclaimer: The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policy-makers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up to date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein are those of CADTH and do not necessarily represent the views of Canada's federal, provincial, or territorial governments or any third-party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk.

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian *Copyright Act* and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

About CADTH: CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

Questions or requests for information about this report can be directed to Requests@CADTH.ca.